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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C.

November 14, 2024

VIA EMAIL AND UPS SIGNATURE REQUIRED

ereese(@elias.law

Ezra Reese, Esq.

Elias Law Group, LLP

10 G Street NE, Suite 600

Washington, DC 20002 RE: MUR 8118

Dear Mr. Reese:

The Federal Election Commission has considered the allegations contained in your
clients’ (Media Matters for America and Angelo Carusone, CEO) complaint dated March 3,
2023, but was equally divided on whether to find reason to believe that: (1) Fox Corporation
violated 52 U.S.C. § 30118(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(b) by making a prohibited corporate
contribution; (2) Keith Rupert Murdoch violated 52 U.S.C. § 30118(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(e)
by consenting to a prohibited corporate contribution; (3) Make America Great Again PAC (f/k/a
Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.) and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer
violated 52 U.S.C. § 30118(a) and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(d) by knowingly accepting a prohibited
corporate contribution; and (4) Make America Great Again PAC (f/k/a Donald J. Trump for
President, Inc.) and Bradley T. Crate in his official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C.

§ 30104(b)(3) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.3(a)(4)(1) by failing to report the contribution from Fox
Corporation in its disclosure reports. The Commission was also evenly divided on whether to
dismiss the complaint.

Accordingly, on October 8, 2024, the Commission voted to close the file in this matter
effective November 14, 2024. Any applicable Statements of Reasons available at the time of this
letter’s transmittal are enclosed.

Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record today. See Disclosure
of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 2016).
The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, allows a complainant to seek judicial
review of the Commission’s dismissal of this action within 60 days of the dismissal, which
became effective today. See 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(8).

If you have any questions, please contact Nick Mueller, the attorney assigned to this
matter, at (202) 694-1577 or nmueller@fec.gov.

Sincerely,

Wanke e

Mark Allen
Assistant General Counsel
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C.

BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
MURs 8117 & 8118

Fox Corporation, ef al.

N N N N N

STATEMENT OF REASONS OF
CHAIRMAN SEAN J. COOKSEY

In this matter, the Commission declined to find reason to believe that Fox Corporation
made—and Make America Great Again PAC (formerly known as Donald J. Trump for President,
Inc.) (“MAGA PAC”) knowingly accepted—a prohibited corporate contribution in the form of
information shared by Fox’s Chair Rupert Murdoch with Jared Kushner, the son-in-law of 2020
presidential candidate Donald Trump.' This statement explains why I did not adopt Office of the
General Counsel’s (“OGC”) recommendation to find the Respondents had violated the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”), and voted instead to close the case file.

L Factual Background

The two Complaints in this matter allege that Rupert Murdoch, the Chair of Fox
Corporation, sent a series of emails to Jared Kushner in September 2020 that conveyed “material,
non-public information” about the 2020 Biden campaign’s “advertising and messaging strategy,”
including “the actual advertisements that Mr. Biden placed with Fox News before they aired
publicly.”? In his initial email to Kushner, on September 24th, 2020, Murdoch wrote, “Know you
are spending less on tv than Biden. However my people tell me his advs are a lot better creatively
than yours. Just passing by it on [sic].” *After Kushner replied the next day that the Trump
campaign would also “have some new creative out this week,” Murdoch responded that a new
Trump ad for “this Sunday” was “an improvement,” then forwarded Kushner an email from a Fox

! Certification (Oct. 8, 2024), MURs 8117 & 8118 (Fox Corporation, et al.).

2 Complaint at 4 (Mar. 3, 2023), MUR 8117 (Fox Corporation, et al.) (emphasis in original). Although the
Complaints refer to Murdoch sharing multiple advertisements with Kushner, the available evidence shows that
Murdoch sent only one advertisement to Kushner.

3 See Fox Corporation Response, Exs. B, C (Mar. 9, 2023), MURs 8117 & 8118 (Fox Corporation, ef al.).
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employee with a link to the Biden campaign ad scheduled to air on September 27th, 2020, during
the broadcast of an NFL game on Fox.*

According to the Complaints, the advertising and information that Murdoch provided to
Kushner were “material to the [Biden] campaign’s strategy and of value under the Act and the
Commission’s regulations.”” Therefore, the Complaints alleged, “Respondents appear to have
violated the Act and Commission regulations by making and accepting a prohibited in-kind
contribution.”®

In their Responses, Murdoch and Fox do not deny that Murdoch shared the relevant ad and
information with Kushner, but they argue that the advertisement at issue was not “material non-
public information,” because the Biden campaign had previously made that ad publicly available
via YouTube on September 24th, and the same ad had already broadcast on a local Fox TV station
in Marquette, Michigan on the morning of September 25th, hours before Murdoch forwarded it to
Kushner.” Moreover, the Respondents point out that this advertisement was essentially “a variation
on a previously aired ad,” which the Biden campaign had “publicly posted on YouTube almost
two weeks earlier on September 8, 2020.”® While the Respondents acknowledge that the
advertisement shared with Kushner “contained cosmetic differences” from the earlier ad, they state
it was “substantially similar” and “[t]he message and strategy of that advertisement was already
well-known and had already been deployed publicly.”’

In the First General Counsel’s Report, OGC recommended that the Commission find
reason to believe both that Murdoch and Fox Corporation had violated the Act’s prohibition on
corporate contributions, and that MAGA PAC—through the actions of'its “agent” Jared Kushner—
had knowingly accepted and failed to report an illegal corporate contribution from Fox.!? Although
OGC recognizes that Kushner had no “titled position” with Trump’s 2020 campaign, it nonetheless
concluded that Kushner was “an agent of the Trump campaign when he accepted the information
from Fox”—making MAGA PAC liable for his alleged violations of the Act.!!

I1. Legal Analysis

The Act broadly prohibits any corporation from making a contribution to a candidate or
candidate’s authorized committee; likewise, no candidate or authorized committee may knowingly

4 1d.

3 Complaint at 5 (Mar. 3, 2023), MUR 8117 (Fox Corporation, et al.).

6 Id. at8.

7 Fox Corporation Response at 4 (Mar. 9, 2023), MURs 8117 & 8118 (Fox Corporation, et al.).

8 1d.

0 1d.

10 See First General Counsel’s Report at 25-26 (June 10, 2024), MURs 8117 & 8118 (Fox Corporation, et
al.).

1 Id. at 19.
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accept a corporate contribution.'? As defined in the Act, a “contribution” is “anything of value
made by any person for the purpose of influencing any election for Federal office.”!® The
Commission’s regulations stipulate that “anything of value” encompasses any “in-kind
contribution,” including “the provision of any goods or services without charge or at a charge that
is less than the usual and normal charge for such goods or services.”'* The Commission’s
enforcement precedent and regulations have made clear that certain kinds of information, such as
opposition research and polling results, may constitute “a thing of value,” and therefore qualify as
an in-kind contribution if given to a campaign without charge or at a reduced cost. '

Turning to the allegations in this matter, I am unpersuaded that the Biden campaign
advertisement and accompanying information Murdoch sent to Kushner are “something of value”
within the scope of the term “contribution.” First, the available evidence indicates that the
advertisement at issue was already in the public domain at the time Murdoch sent it to Kushner.
The Respondents have pointed out that the Biden advertisement was both posted to YouTube and
broadcast on a Michigan-based Fox station prior to Murdoch ever sharing it with Kushner.!®
Biden’s campaign also had disseminated a “substantially similar” ad on September 8th, 2020,
several weeks before Murdoch emailed Kushner.!” The Commission has repeatedly concluded
that, as a general matter, “the use of publicly available information generally defeats” allegations
of prohibited in-kind support.'® When Murdoch shared Biden’s ad with Kushner, it was no longer
“material non-public information” concerning the Biden campaign’s strategy, messaging, or
advertising, and therefore it could not be considered “a thing of value” at that time.

Murdoch’s other statements in his emails to Kushner, including his disclosure that the
Biden campaign ad would air on Fox during an upcoming NFL game, also do not amount to “a
thing of value” for purposes of the Act’s contribution regime.!” Determining whether the limited,
non-proprietary information that Murdoch conveyed to Kushner “has ‘value,” and what that value

12 52 U.S.C. § 30118(a); 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(a)-(b).

13 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A)(i); 11 C.E.R. § 100.52(a).

14 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1).

15 See, e.g., Factual & Legal Analysis at 13-20 (July 17, 2012), MUR 6414 (Carnahan in Congress

Committee, et al.) (provision of opposition research services to a committee may result in an in-kind contribution if
the committee does not pay the “usual and normal charge” for such services); 11 C.F.R. § 106.4(b) (“The purchase
of opinion poll results by a political committee or other person not authorized by a candidate to make expenditures
and the subsequent acceptance of the poll results by a candidate or a candidate's authorized political committee . . .
is a contribution in-kind by the purchaser to the candidate or other political committee™).

16 Fox Corporation Response at 4 (Mar. 9, 2023), MURs 8117 & 8118 (Fox Corporation, et al.).
17 Id.

18 Statement of Reasons of Vice Chairman Matthew S. Petersen and Commissioner Caroline C. Hunter at 4

(May 2, 2019), MUR 6908 (NRCC, et al.). See also Coordinated and Independent Expenditures, 68 Fed. Reg. 421,
432 (Jan. 3, 2003) (“[A] request that is posted on a web page that is available to the general public” is not a basis for
finding coordination).

19 Fox Corporation Response, Ex. A ((Murdoch Dep. at 210:06-09)) (Mar. 9, 2023), MURs 8117 & 8118
(Fox Corporation, ef al.).
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might be, is an inherently subjective exercise” for which the Commission is ill-suited.?® As even
OGC recognizes, “[iJnformation about the planned airing of a specific campaign advertisement
does not appear to have a commercial market,”?! and, unlike commercially available goods or
services, its fair market value is “too nebulous to quantify.”??> Moreover, to adopt OGC’s view that
any stray information that a campaign might consider useful is a “thing of value” would open the
floodgates to regulating every bit of back-and-forth information on a campaign as a contribution.
Such a rule would be absurd and unadministrable.?* Even if the Commission could somehow
objectively determine the value of the information conveyed in Murdoch’s emails, that monetary
valuation would almost certainly be de minimis within the context of a presidential race that
involved hundreds of millions of dollars in advertising.

And while the Trump campaign may not have otherwise known which advertisement the
Biden campaign planned to air on Fox, I am not convinced that Murdoch’s brief comments and
opinions about upcoming advertising from both the Biden and Trump campaigns, just days before
those ads were scheduled to air, would have “allowed the Trump campaign the opportunity to
proactively alter the timing and/or substance of its own messaging, conceivably by altering the
advertisement that it was airing in the same football game, or in other upcoming advertisements.”?*
Murdoch’s personal observations about the ads—such as his remarks that Biden’s ads “were a lot
better creatively” than Trump’s and that one of Trump’s new ads was “an improvement” — were
more akin to “advice, in ‘broad generalities,” about the effectiveness of a particular television ad,”
which the Commission has previously declined to find amounts to an in-kind contribution.?

In addition, I disagree with OGC’s determination that MAGA PAC knowingly accepted
and failed to report a prohibited corporate contribution, based on Kushner’s actions as its supposed
agent.?® The Act and Commission regulations provide only limited guidance on how the law of

2 Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Allen Dickerson and Commissioners Sean J. Cooksey and James E.

“Trey” Trainor, IIT at 11 (June 10, 2021), MUR 7271 (DNC, et al.). As the Supreme Court explained in Buckley v.
Baleo, the phrase “thing of value,” as used within the Act’s definition of “contribution,” poses both vagueness and
overbreadth concerns unless it is subjected to the “limiting connotation created by the general understanding of what
constitutes a political contribution”—i.e., “funds provided to a candidate or political party or campaign committee
either directly or indirectly through an intermediary.” 424 U.S. 1, 23 n.24 (1976) (per curiam).

21 First General Counsel’s Report at 20 (June 10, 2024), MURs 8117 & 8118 (Fox Corporation, ef al.).

2 Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Caroline C. Hunter and Commissioner Lee E. Goodman and Matthew

S. Petersen at 7 (Feb. 28, 2017), MUR 6958 (Senator Claire McCaskill, ef al.). See also Statement of Reasons of
Vice Chair Allen Dickerson and Commissioners Sean J. Cooksey and James E. “Trey” Trainor, IIT at 10-11 (June
10, 2021), MUR 7271 (DNC, et al.) (“Information, however, does not always fit neatly into the ‘goods’ or ‘services’
category—especially if it does not take a form that can be commercially distributed or made available for purchase
or sale, and especially not when the ‘information’ concerned is purely speech.”).

2z Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Allen Dickerson and Commissioners Sean J. Cooksey and James E.

“Trey” Trainor, IIT at 10—11 (June 10, 2021), MUR 7271 (DNC, et al.).
2 First General Counsel’s Report at 10 (June 10, 2024), MURs 8117 & 8118 (Fox Corporation, ef al.).

25 Statement of Reasons of Vice Chair Caroline C. Hunter and Commissioners Lee E. Goodman and Matthew

S. Petersen at 1 (Feb. 28, 2017), MUR 6958 (Senator Claire McCaskill, et al.); see also Certification (Sept. 13,
2016), MUR 6958 (Senator Claire McCaskill, et al.).

26 See First General Counsel’s Report at 22-23 (June 10, 2024), MURs 8117 & 8118 (Fox Corporation, et
al.).
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agency applies to political committees. The Act requires a political committee to have a treasurer
to oversee all its receipts and disbursements, and it stipulates candidates are also considered agents
of their authorized committees for purposes of receiving contributions and making
disbursements.?’ Separately, the Commission has issued regulations concerning the meaning of an
“agent” in relation to restrictions on coordinated communications and non-federal funds.?® Outside
these provisions, however, the Commission has generally considered background principles of the
law of agency in determining an entity’s liability for the conduct of its officers or agents.?’

In recommending that the Commission find reason to believe against MAGA PAC, OGC
accepts the Complaints’ claim that, despite Kushner having no official title or position with the
committee, he “was a senior leader to the Trump campaign” in 2020, and that “[t]his type of
authority [ ] indicates that Kushner was in a position to accept the information from Murdoch about
the Biden campaign’s advertisements, as Kushner would have the authority to use that information
to affect the Trump campaign’s communications.”*’ But these allegations depend significantly on
third-party news reports, which in turn rely on unnamed sources, in an effort to characterize
Kushner as the ““person officially overseeing [Trump’s] entire campaign.””*! I remain skeptical
that these news accounts are a sufficiently reliable source on which to conclude that Kushner had
actual or apparent authority to accept advertising information from Murdoch on behalf of MAGA
PAC.3? Similarly, while Kushner wrote in one of his emails to Murdoch that he “will now be
reviewing [advertisements] every week until the end as the real money is starting to be spent on
TV and Digital,” that remark alone does not establish Kushner had any real decision-making
authority with respect to the Trump campaign’s development of messaging or strategy.>>

Moreover, even assuming arguendo that Kushner was acting as MAGA PAC’s agent in his
email exchange with Murdoch, the Complaints and the overall record here fail to demonstrate that
the committee ever received or “knowingly accepted” Murdoch’s emails and the information in
them from Kushner, let alone that MAGA PAC then adjusted its own political messaging or

27 52 U.S.C. § 30102(a), (e)(2).

28 See 11 C.F.R. §§ 109.3, 300.2 (defining “agent” for purposes of coordination rules and restrictions on non-

federal funds, respectively).

» See Factual & Legal Analysis for the Arizona Sports Foundations, dba The Fiesta Bowl at 8 (Jan. 12,
2012), MUR 6465 (Fiesta Bowl, et al.) (citing Restatement (Third) of Agency (2006)); Factual & Legal Analysis for
Precision Pipeline, LLC at 6 & nn.30-31 (Dec. 20, 2017), MUR 7137 (Precision Pipeline, LLC, et al.) (same).

30 First General Counsel’s Report at 20, 21 (June 10, 2024), MURs 8117 & 8118 (Fox Corporation, et al.).

3 Complaint at 3 (Mar. 3, 2023), MUR 8117 (Fox Corporation, et al.) (quoting Annie Karni & Maggie
Haberman, Kushner’s Global Role Shrinks as He Tackles Another: The 2020 Election, N.Y. TIMES (Jan. 9, 2020),
https://www.nytimes.com/2020/01/09/us/politics/jared-kushner-trump-campaign.html).

32 See Statement of Reasons of Chairman Allen J. Dickerson and Commissioners Sean J. Cooksey and James

E. “Trey” Trainor, III at 8-9 (June 9, 2022), MUR 7784 (MAGA PAC, et al.) (“Unsourced reports are not a proper
basis for Commission enforcement action (particularly where, as here, they are heavily characterized, conclusory,
and laden with innuendo).”).

33 Fox Corporation Response, Ex. B (Mar. 9, 2023), MURs 8117 & 8118 (Fox Corporation, ef al.).
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strategy in response to that information.** That evidentiary gap is fatal to the allegations that the
committee accepted and failed to report a contribution from Fox Corporation.

Finally, although the Commission’s decision not to proceed with enforcement in this matter
does not turn on the Act’s media exemption, I am mindful that Fox Corporation is, first and
foremost, a media organization whose press activities and editorial decision-making are broadly
protected from regulation by both the statutory media exemption and the First Amendment’s Press
Clause. The Commission does not have to decide here whether Murdoch’s communications with
Kushner may have qualified as a “legitimate press function,” but in future cases I will continue to
read the scope of exempted press activities broadly, in recognition that Congress did not intend the
Act to “limit or burden in any way the First Amendment freedoms of the press and of
association.”?

* ok ok

For the foregoing reasons, I did not support OGC’s recommendations to find reason to
believe the Respondents violated the Act by making and knowingly accepting prohibited
corporate contributions.

j)m J’ ﬁ November 8, 2024

Sean J. COM<sey Date
Chairman

34 See First General Counsel’s Report at 21-22 (June 10, 2024), MURs 8117 & 8118 (Fox Corporation, et
al.).

35 H.R. Rep. No. 93-1239 at 4 (1974). See Statement of Reasons of Commissioner Sean J. Cooksey at 5 (Apr.
22,2022), MUR 7789 (Courier Newsroom, et al.) (“The scope of legitimate press activity should include all costs
associated with writing, producing, publishing, or distributing news content, commentary, editorials, and other
constitutionally protected speech. Whether done by individuals or corporations, regularly or sporadically, all of it is
protected by the First Amendment.”).
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
1050 FIRST STREET, N.E.
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
MURs 8117/8118
Fox Corporation, et al.

STATEMENT OF REASONS OF
COMMISSIONERS ALLEN J. DICKERSON AND JAMES E. “TREY” TRAINOR, 111

The complaints in these Matters alleged, in relevant part, that during the 2020
election Rupert Murdoch, the chairman of the Fox Corporation, “conveyed material,
non-public information concerning a political rival’s advertising and messaging
strategy — specifically, the actual advertisements that Mr. Biden placed with Fox
News before they aired publicly — to Mr. Trump’s son-in law,” Jared Kushner, “a
senior advisor in the Trump campaign responsible for candidate messaging and

advertising strategy.”!

The responses demonstrated that this allegation was false. Mr. Murdoch
did email Mr. Kushner, opining that an ad that the Biden campaign expected to
air during an upcoming professional football game was “extremely good.”? But
“the specific advertisement shared by Murdoch was already publicly available, as
it had aired several hours” before the relevant email exchange “on a local Fox
station in Marquette, Michigan” and, moreover, “was viewable on the Biden
[c]ampaign’s YouTube channel since September 24, 2020, a day prior.”3

1 MUR 8117 Complaint at 4 (emphasis in original). Cf. MUR 8118 Complaint at 3 (“Specifically,
Murdoch allegedly conveyed the actual advertisements that the Biden campaign paid Fox Corporation
to air on its television outlets to the Committee before the advertisements aired”). The complaints also
alleged that Fox, through Murdoch, illicitly provided debate strategy—an allegation that the agency’s
Office of General Counsel recommended the Commission reject. First Gen’l Counsel’s Report (“FGCR”)
at 15, MURs 8117/8118 (Fox Corp.), June 10, 2024

2 Id. at 6 (quotation marks omitted). Murdoch also noted that the Trump campaign’s ad scheduled for
that game was an “improvement” over past Trump messaging. Id. (quotation marks omitted).

31d. at 7.
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Nonetheless, the Commission’s Office of General Counsel (“OGC”)
recommended that we find reason-to-believe that Fox, Murdoch, and the Trump
campaign, through Kushner,4 violated the Federal Election Campaign Act’s (“FECA”
or “Act”) prohibitions against making and receiving corporate contributions, as well
as additional reporting violations contingent on finding such a wviolation.> OGC
contended that the knowledge of “the planned airing of a specific campaign
advertisement” during “the upcoming football game on Fox stations two days later”
constituted the illegal donation.6

We voted to dismiss,” and provide this Statement of Reasons to explain why.8
I. Standard of Review

“The Commission will find reason-to-believe when a complaint (1) fairly
invokes its jurisdiction, (2) is credible, and not merely a bare accusation of
wrongdoing, (3) the response has not sufficiently answered the complaint, and (4) it
determines that enforcement is a judicious use of the Commission’s scarce
resources.”® Here, given the narrow refashioning of the complaint’s allegations, we
concluded that it would be a poor use of Commission resources to enforce against
what we considered to be, at most, a de minimis transfer of ad placement information.

I1. Relevant Law

FECA prohibits “any corporation whatever” from contributing to a candidate
committee.l0 “This ban encompasses so-called in-kind contributions, such as ‘the
provision of any goods or services without charge or at a charge that is less than the
usual and normal charge for such goods and services, including °‘[s]ecurities,

4 OGC nevertheless recommended dismissal of the allegations against Mr. Kusher personally. Id at
26,  5; 23 (suggesting Kusher’s “liability is coterminous with the” campaign’s and his “role was the
passive accepting of a prohibited in-kind contribution”).

5Id. at 25-26.

6 Id. at 10.

7 Certification at 1-2; Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821 (1985).

8 Democratic Cong. Campaign Comm. v. Fed. Election Comm’n, 831 F.2d 1131, 1135 (D.C. Cir. 1987).

9 Statement of Reasons of Chairman Cooksey and Comm’rs Dickerson and Trainor at 2, MUR 8110
(Am. Coal. for Conservative Priorities), July 29, 2024.

10 52 U.S.C. § 30118(a). The Supreme Court has upheld this ban. Fed. Election Comm’n v. Beaumont,
539 U.S. 146 (2003).

2
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facilities, equipment, supplies, personnel, advertising services, membership lists, and
mailing lists.”1! This list of “things of value”!2 confirms that in-kind contributions
“are limited to goods and services ‘given in-kind that hold a specific monetary value
and are available on the market.”13

ITII. We Voted To Dismiss Pursuant to the Commission’s Prosecutorial
Discretion

Assuming arguendo that the particulars of these Matters are as OGC’s FGCR
stated them to be,14 we concluded that it would be a poor use of Commission resources
to find reason-to-believe and proceed with enforcement.

OGC correctly notes that “[ijnformation about the planned airing of a specific
campaign advertisement does not appear to have a commercial market precisely
because it is confidential information that is not intended to be shared, let alone
sold.”?5> But this is not the end of the analysis—markets plainly exist for goods and
services which are not intended to be commercially sold. Black markets are still
markets.

More to the point, OGC’s Report argues that this particular information had
significant value, theorizing about the “heightened value” of “[i]nside information” to
campaigns.!6 But this is pure speculation, and, conversely, there is no indication that
the Trump campaign made any use of the timing information communicated to Mr.
Kushner.1” This strongly suggests that the value of any non-public information

11 Statement of Reasons of Comm’s Dickerson and Trainor at 3, MUR 8056 (Bob Healey for Congress),
Aug. 17, 2023 (“Healey Statement”) (quoting 11 C.F.R. § 100.52(d)(1)) (cleaned up).

12 “The term ‘contribution’ includes...anything of value.” 52 U.S.C. § 30101(9); Buckley v. Valeo, 424
U.S. 1, 23, n.24 (1976) (per curiam) (imiting that term to “the limiting connotation created by the
general understanding of what constitutes a political contribution”).

13 Healey Statement at 4 (quoting Statement of Reasons of Chairman Dickerson and Comm’rs Cooksey
and Trainor at 6, MURs 7645/7663/7705 (Donald J. Trump), Aug. 31, 2022.).

14 For a countervailing view, see Statement of Reasons of Chairman Cooksey at 5, MURs 8117/8118
(Fox Corp.), Nov. 8, 2024.

15 FGCR at 10.
16 Id.

17 Id. at 10-11; MUR 8117 MAGA PAC Resp. at 2 (“Notably, End Citizens United does not allege, nor
does the Dominion record indicate, that: (a) Mr. Kushner shared any of Mr. Murdoch’s emails or
observations with campaign officials; (b) MAGAPAC took any action or made any changes to their
strategy based upon information provided by Mr. Murdoch to Mr. Kushner”).

3
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communicated to Mr. Kushner was, in fact, comparatively minor. If it had been
especially valuable, that value would have been in proportion to its utility. After all,
material information is material precisely because it is likely to spur the recipient to
action.18

We also question OGC’s conclusion that the purpose of Mr. Murdoch’s email
was to give information about the placement of this particular advertisement. Rather,
in context, Mr. Murdoch was generally complaining to Mr. Kushner about how badly
the Trump campaign was communicating relative to its opponent and used the
relevant Biden ad merely as an example.l® There is no indication that this
communication was part of a larger pattern whereby Mr. Murdoch leaked non-public
information to Mr. Kushner, nor is a general statement that Mr. Murdoch “was trying
to help Mr. Kushner” sufficient, on this record, to elevate the allegations to the level
of seriousness justifying federal enforcement efforts.20

We understand that the original complaint was filed based upon the belief that
Mr. Murdoch was providing non-public advertisements to one side of a political
contest. That allegation would raise a significant question if it were true. But it was
not. The alleged “thing of value” that remains is but a small portion of the original:
not the ad itself, but merely the fact of a single placement.

Given the ongoing press of Commission business, we did not believe that this
truncated allegation merited the further expenditure of Commission resources.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, we voted to dismiss these complaints pursuant to
the agency’s prosecutorial discretion.

18 See, e.g., TSC Indus., Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976) (a “fact is material if there is
a substantial likelihood that a reasonable shareholder would consider it important in deciding how to
vote”).

19 FGCR at 5 (quoting Murdoch as saying that his “people tell me his [Biden’s] advs are a lot better
creatively than” Trump’s).

20 MUR 8117 MAGA PAC Resp., Ex. A at 1. In our view, OGC overreads the brief deposition transcript
upon which it principally relies. Mr. Murdoch had no independent memory of the email exchange, and
merely stated “right” and “I guess so0” in response to a leading question from counsel. Id. The fact that
he (erroneously) testified that the email involved a campaign ad “before it was public” further cuts
against OGC’s maximalist reading of this very short exchange. Id.

4
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November 8, 2024
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
In the Matter of

)
)

Fox Corporation, et al. ) MURs 8117 and 8118
)

STATEMENT OF REASONS OF VICE CHAIR ELLEN L. WEINTRAUB
AND COMMISSIONERS SHANA M. BROUSSARD AND DARA LINDENBAUM

On September 27, 2020, over 26.4 million viewers tuned in to Fox to watch America’s No. 1
Show — the NFL Game of the Week.! Three days before the game, Fox’s chairman, Keith Rupert
Murdoch, sent an email to Jared Kushner, Donald Trump’s senior advisor who was overseeing the
Trump campaign, informing Kushner that the Biden campaign ads were “better creatively” than
Trump’s.? The next day, Murdoch sent the Biden advertisement that would be airing during the football
game to Kushner. In a sworn deposition, Murdoch explained that he sent the Biden advertisement to
Kushner because he “was trying to help Mr. Kushner. He’s a friend of mine.”* Murdoch also agreed that
he was “trying to help the Trump campaign by giving him a preview of the Biden campaign’s ads before
it was public.”*

Corporations, such as Fox, are prohibited from making contributions (including “anything of
value”) to authorized political committees.’ The Federal Election Commission’s nonpartisan Office of
General Counsel (“OGC”) concluded that Fox provided and Make America Great Again PAC (f/k/a
Donald J. Trump for President, Inc.) accepted a thing of value because “Murdoch’s emails to Kushner
contained material information about Biden’s campaign strategy that was not public — that the Biden
campaign was airing this particular ad, to a particular and large audience, during a particular broadcast
two days in the future.”® While a similar ad may have already been made public, that does not negate the

! America’s Game of the Week Reigns as No. 1 Show in Television, FOX SPORTS (Sept. 27, 2022),
https://www.foxsports.com/presspass/blog/2022/09/27/americas-game-of-the-week-reigns-as-no-1-show-in-television/
(noting that 26.4 million viewers watched Fox’s America’s Game of the Week on Sunday, September 27, 2020, and that the
show is “TV’s No. 1 Show for the last 13 years”).

2 First Gen. Counsel’s Rpt. (“FGCR”) at 5.

3 FGCR at 6 (citing Murdoch Deposition).

4 FGCR at 7 (citing Murdoch Deposition).

5 52 U.S.C. §§ 30118(a), 30101(8)(A)().

6 FGCR at 15; see also Statement of Commissioner Ellen Weintraub on The Law of a Thing of Value, (Oct. 2019),

https://www.fec.gov/resources/cms-content/documents/2019-10-ELW-the-law-of-a-thing-of-value.pdf.
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value of the information that was conveyed. As OGC concluded, it is not the advertisement itself that
was the thing of value, but rather the material information about the Biden’s non-public campaign
strategy to air a particular ad during a particular broadcast. Furthermore, the value of such information
cannot be considered de minimis by looking at the value relative to the exponential growth of political
spending in a presidential race. Such a test would render virtually anything de minimis.

This is not a hard case. The facts are not in dispute. An investigation was not required. Any
candidate would find it valuable to know their opponent’s advertising strategy. Knowing that a
particular ad would be placed during a highly viewed football game was a thing of value given by Fox
Corporation to the Trump campaign. Therefore, we voted to find reason to believe that a violation
occurred and to enter into pre-probable cause conciliation.’

[ 74 r -

11/12/2024 W - U g

Date Ellen L. Weintraub
Vice Chair
11/12/2024 ' '
Date Shana M. Broussard
Commissioner
11/12/2024 W
Date Dara Lindenbaum
Commissioner
7 Certification g 1 (Oct. 8, 2024) (A motion to find reason to believe that Fox Corporation made and Make America

Great Again PAC accepted and failed to report a prohibited corporate contribution failed 3-3, with Vice Chair Weintraub and
Commissioners Broussard and Lindenbaum voting in favor and Chairman Cooksey and Commissioners Dickerson and
Trainor opposed).
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